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THE COURT: All right, the matter of Nelson
Barbados and Cox and I know it's eleven twenty in
the morning. I was given material, an affidavit of
Mr. Best at about nine twenty-five or so this
morning. I've spent all of this time reading, what
are 46 pages, 310 single-spaced paragraphs of an
affidavit, plus what I would say is conservatively
another 75 pages of attachments. So that's why,
unfortunately, I've had to come into court later.
Now, 2t's...

MS. LEBEESS  Yaur Honsur. . o

THE COURT: ...Ms. Loutes, you're appearing for

Mr. Besi?

M3. LUTES: Yes, T was just going to....

THE COURT: Mr. Ranking, are yocu ready to proceed?
Are you representing Mr. Silver as well?

MR. RANKING: I am as well and he extends his
apologies. He’'s just finished hip surgery so he
could not attend.

THE COURT: I knew - he told me that on the last
occasion.

MR. RANKING: Yes.

MS. LUTES: And I am here on Mr. Greenspan’s behalf
Your Honour. He apologizes that he couldn’t be
here in person this morning. He had a doctor’s
appointment. I'm his associate so we’re here,
still technically on the record, pursuant to Your
Honour’s previous endorsement that we’d be on the
record until at least today and hopefully we can
see what transpires this morning in terms of

working things out as it's Mr. Best’s instructions
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still that we no longer act for him.

THE COURT: I understand that but can I ask you
some questions? Just to expedite things and I'm
sure Mr. Ranking will be raising it but with the

time that's available to me, I thought we were

doing a very soft appearance today. I didn’t think

we were getting into anything substantial.

Primarily, this appointment was arranged because of

the situation that Mr. Greenspan was in. So the
things I'd like to know right off the top is one,
has the passport been filed or placed in

Mr. Greenspal®sSdaca .

MR. RANKING: It has.

MS. LUTES: Yes.

MR. RANKING: I can address a number of issues
which T think...

THE COURT: Yes, sorry Mr. Ranking.

MR. RANKING: ...we can go through relatively
guicklv. x -

THE COURT: Good.

MR. RANKING: The passport being one of them. But
to assist Your Honour, I don’t know - do you have
an extra copy ol the draft order?

M3. LUTES: I do.

MR. RANKING: I'm going to pass up the draft order

that's been approved. It has been submitted to the

court for signature; I gather it has not yet beesn
signed.

THE COURT: I didn’t see it, so.

MR. RANKING: But we’re content - this as I say,
has been approved by...

THE COURT: All rzight.
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MR. RANKING: ...all. What I was going to draw
your attention to though, is I’'d like to deal with
the first paragraph, dealing with the Notice of
Intention to Act in Person because the background
here was I got an email from Mr. Greenspan
indicating that he was not planning to attend today
and I responded to him expressing some concern
because while Mr. Best has faxed a Notice of
Intention to Act in Person to me, there is no
evidence that it's been filed with the court. And
so I then responded to Mr. Greenspan and indicated
that I was certainly content that he not attend
provided I had evidence that the Notice of
Intention to Act in Person had been filed. And I
said, and if in fact it hasn’t been filed then
regrettably I am going to ask you or one of your
colleagues to attend and indeed Ms. Loutes is here.
So the problem that I am confronted with Your
Honour, is if you look at paragraph of your order
dated November 16™, it’s quite clear that the
application is adjourned - adjourned to December

1

THE COURT: Right.

MR. RANKING: ...for the applicant either to retain
new counsel or alternatively to confirm that he has
filed a Notice of Intention to Act in Person.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. RANKING: I spoke to Mr. Best today, who’'s
refused to speak with me, and he has refused to
CORLLTM. « s

THE COURT: All right, well let me tell you, it
came right up to my office and I think Madam
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Registrar, if you check what was brought down to
you, you’ll have - it's somewhat in a hand-written
form.

MR. RANKING: It is.

THE COURT: You’'ve seen it?

MR. RANKING: I have seen it; I just don’'t know
that it's been filed and - and my....

THE COURT: Well....

MR. RANKING: Mr. Best would not confirm that it's
been filed so that....

THE COURT: I can direct that it'"s filed, right
now.

MR. RANKING: Right. As long as that's done....
THE COURT: Can I just see it? There’s a note on
top; “Justice Shaughnessy is dealing with this”,
so just a minute. We’ve got a Notice of Appearance
from Mr. Silver. No there’s another - is there not
— there’s another, like it's on a fax form. These
are appearances of counsel. Did I bring it down?
COURT SERVICES OFFICER: I'm not sure.

THE COURT: Hold on, maybe 1've golt it here. Here
it is. Now, this is dated December 7 to the trial
coordinator and it says, “Per the order of Justice
Shaughnessy, I am submitting a Notice of Intention
to Act in Person sent to me by Mr. Ranking on
November 14™. I also attach a fax transmission
receipt, proving I sent copies to Mr. Ranking, Mr.
Silver, Mr. Greenspan and Bill McKenzie.” And on
the Notice of Intention to Act in Person, I assume
you have this copy?

MR. RANKING: I do.

THE COURT: Do you want to check it?
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MR. RANKING: I will. I don’t need to do it now
Your Honour. I'm delighted that it's been filed.
Mr. Best had not confirmed that to me this morning.
THE COURT: Yes, well....

MR. RANKING: If that’s been filed then I think
that puts my friend in a position where I no longer
need to — to trouble her, and certainly from my
client’s perspective, and I'm grateful, thank you
for your advice that the Notice of Intention has
been filed.

THE COURT: The — but I do have a question on it.
MR. RANKING: Okay.

THE COURT: Now the second requirement over which T
had to unfortunately deal on the last occasion, was
getting Mr. Best to provide an address. The
address that’s shown on the Notice of Intention to
Act in Person is an address in Markham. I’'d like
to know counsel, is that an apartment building or
is that an actual house?

MS. LUTES: Could I have a moment Your Honour?

THE COURT: Yes, please.

MS. LUTES: Your Honour, Mr. Best has advised that
that’s a house.

THE COURT: A house.

MS. LUTES: So that’s the address and if my friend
could confirm this, my recollection is that we were
all copied - or maybe I wasn’t on the email, but
all the parties were advised of that address at
some point, but if my friend could confirm that?
THE COURT: The other thing I noticed, all right,
that’s fine. So Madam Registrar then, if it hasn’t

been, would you please just mark this Notice of
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Intention to Act in Person as filed, as part of the
court file?

COURTROOM REGISTRAR: Yes Your Honour.

THE COURT: Thank you. All right Mr. Ranking, that
takes care of that.

MR. RANKING: Thank you very much Your Honour. The
second matter deals with the passport. That is
dealt with in paragraph 6 a) of the Order.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: 1I’ve spoken with my friend because if
Mr. Greenspan is no longer counsel of record, we
wanted to deal with that and my friend, on behalf
of Mr. Greenspan’s office, has indicated that they
are content to continue to hold Mr. Best’s
passport, until such time as Mr. Best engages new
counsel and I'm certainly content that that occur
and that we just proceed on that basis.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: Those are the two administrative
matters that I wanted to deal with. I do want to
speak to the issue of late filing of material that
I only received this morning. It was faxed through
on six different faxes between nine and ten o’clock
last night. I do have submissions on that. I
don’t know how you wish the - the morning to unfold
so I'm in your hands.

THE COURT: Well I think that we have dealt with
the Mr. Greenspan issue.

MR. RANKING: I think we have.

THE COURT: I think we can let counsel go.

MR. RANKING: Yes.

MS. LUTES: Thank you Your Honour.
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THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. RANKING: I guess Mr. Best, you can move up to
the counsel table so that I can hear - get all this
recorded and try to find out what we’re going -
what he’s asking for. I think I know from reading
the materials, but — in faect, I t£hink I'm going to
direct this a little bit because everyone’s
entitled to their time in court. They're not
entitled to an unlimited time in court and frankly,
I am right in the middle of a civil jury trial and
I'm trying to get ready to charge my jury tomorrow
morning, so I'm going to have to direct this just a
little bit, not too much, just a little bit. Mr.
Best, you want to retain counsel?

MR. BEST: Yes, absclutely.

THE COURT: Your affidavit material, now, I've read
it so I don’t have to hear you again. But I want
to indicate, I'm very — there’s a number of things
that you want to do, that to me appear completely
irrelevant to what I'm dealing with. First of all,
this was your application, brought after you
retained Mr. Greenspan to purge the contempt.
That’s what the original application was. As I
read your material, and you correct me if I'm
wrong, the - you indicate now that you want to
bring malpractice actions as - I'm using your
words, against Mr. Ranking, Mr. Silver, I'm not
sure who else. Is that right?

MR. BEST: May I - may I speak to you sir?

THE COURT: Yes, but you answer my question and
then I*1]l hear you. Is that right? Is that not

what your material indicates?
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MR. BE5ST: Sir, it - my material indicates Your
Honour, that I'm looking for a lawyer who'’s
willing...

THE COURT: I know that but I'm also asking....
ME. BEST: sasltlasss

THE COURT: Can you answer my question first and
then 1’11 hear you on the others.

MR. BEST: Sir I was looking for a malpractice
lawyer...

THE COURT: | Right, for.::

MR BEST: Losas o whats: ..

THE 'COURT: ...what reason?

MR. BEST: As to what will come of that, I would
have to take instructions and get advice from my
lawyer. As I - if you could just give me a moment
here sir, there’s a section that I've written about
that.

THE COURT: I read it. 1I"wve read it. You go ahead
and look; I know what's in there.

MR. BEST: I wanted Your Honour to - ask your
permission to file this with the recordings and all
the evidence. 1I've served it on Mr. Ranking and
Mr. Silver this morning. Mr. Ranking accepted it
for Mr. Silver.

THE COURT: No, no, no. Mr. Ranking’s already
indicated that there’s going to be issue about
whether you can even file — have a late filing of
the material.

MR. BEST: I see sir.

THE COURT: So I - I'm trying to understand; just
get this focused. I think that’s what I'm trying

to get, is a focus here.
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MR. BEST: Your Honour, perhaps if I could read
AeREL ]

THE COURT: All right. Just forget my guestion
then. Getting a new lawyer, what’s the difficulty
because you seem to have financial means based on
the affidavit you’ve put before the court as to
what you paid Mr. Greenspan. I don’'t...

MR. BESIT: Your HonoWr. ...

THE COURT: ...know if I should be told all that.
But I've been told, so you obviously have the
financial ability, right?

MR. BEST: If I could — if I could read about my
efforts to get a lawyer, that would answer your
question Your Honour. Just — if I could just have
a moment to find the particular section Your
Honour. I have - there’s a list of lawyers in
here.

THE COURT: I saw il.

MR. BEST: Yes, thank you Your Honour, and my
efforts to find and retain an experienced lawyer
who’s willing to represent me - they’re serious and
vigorous and they continue daily. And Your Honour,
I've spoken with many more lawyers than are even
indicated in the - in the list and of the - you've
asked me what the difficulty is. Well of the
lawyers who refused my case, some of the reasons
given include conflicts of interests with the large
law firms and lawyers, conflicts with some of the
various companies, using the PricewaterhouseCoopers
brand, lack of experience in civil contempt, a lack
of experience in civil cases, a lack of experience

in criminal cases where incarceration is a
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possibility, and a reluctance to take legal steps
that could damage the careers of other lawyers and
fears that taking the case would damage their
business and/or social relationships. Some lawyers
refused my case and did not provide their reasons
or — or didn’t return my calls. But as an example,
Mr. Will McDowell of Lenczner Slaght, I'm not sure
if I'm pronouncing the law firm’s name correctly,
he — he — I had rather a - a communication with him
and he said, “Mr. Best, I'm afraid that by reason
of this firm's relationship with several of the
lawyers and the institutions on the list, including
current client relationships, we are unable to
represent you. We appreciate being advised of the
full dimensions of the problem so that we could do
a proper conflict search. All the best.” And I
had sent him quite - some material. I've attempted
to retain a lawyer, Your Honour, and I've had many.
You - this is why I need a lawyer to speak for me
and put it all before the court since Mr. McKenzie
was taken from me.

THE COURT: Why - can I ask you....

MR. BEST: Yes, Your Honour.

THE COURT: In the material that you’ve filed, you
mentioned Mr. Greenspan brought a Mr. Davis on
board to assist him as it relates to the civil
parts of this. Is there any reason you can't
retain Mr. Davis, because obviously he must have
some knowledge as a result of his involvement with
Mr. Greenspan, according to your affidavit, which
is — what is the date this affidavit was sworn?

Just so we’ve got it on the record.
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MR. BEST: May I just take a moment and have a
glass of water here Your Honour? I'm trying to
think of how to answer the question. I don’t know
how to answer the question in the proper way. I
need a lawyer but....

THE COURT: You're answering it fine. I'm not
having any difficulty understanding you. I'm just
saying your affidavit....

MR. BEST: I hear you Your Honour.

THE COURT: I'm just looking for the date that the
affidanmitse s

MR. BEST: I - I hear you Your Honour. I didn’t
retain Mr. Davis; Mr. Greenspan did.

THE COURT: Right, yes. Your affidavit dated
December 10* is what I'm referring to.

MR. BEST: Your Honour, I don’t know if I want to
go there but if you order me to, I will tell you
why.

THE COURT: No, if you don’t - if you're saying you
didn’t meet Mr. Davis or Mr. Davis wasn’t prepared
to take on your case, that’s fine. If you also
feel that you don’t have confidence in Mr. Davis,
you can say that. That’'s fine; I can accept that.
I'm just curious...

MR. BEST: Well Your Honour, I"11l tell you....

THE COORT: ..-a5 to why.:.-

ME. BEST: 1711 just tell yvou the tribth; that's all
I got. We're in a meeting....

THE COURT: Ne, no, no. You're going fLo....

MR. BEST: I = ne, no.

THE COURT: You're going to get into matters of

solicitor and client privilege and...
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MR. BEST: I see.

THE COURT ...I don’'t want to get into that.
Simply, I just asked a question; I think it can
have a simple answer without you getting into
solicitorfelient detail. I.:...

MR. BE5T: Mr. Davis made a statement that....

THE COURT: 1Is it your preference not to have

Mr. Davis?

MR. BEST: Sorry sir.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. BEST: Mr. Davis made a statement. On the
basis of that, I decided I couldn’t possibly hire
him.

THE COURT: RAil ®ight .

MR. BEST: Your Honour, I've written to the - let
me continue here please. I contacted the Referral
Service of the Law Society of Upper Canada and I've
been told there’s a list of lawyers who've
indicated they will engage in malpractice lawsuits.
That wasn’t because I'm saying I decided to
introduce a malpractice lawsuit Your Honour. It's
just that I was having trouble and I figured that a
lawyer who engaged in that kind of work wouldn’t
mind taking on other lawyers. And...

THE COURE= Bat Mr. Best.. ..

MR. BEST: ...so I wrote them a letter and the
letters are exhibits. I wrote them two letters.
THE COURT: I see them; I"ve read them.

MR. BEST: And then I wrote Law-Pro and Your
Honour, as I say, I'm having difficulty, not
because I don’t want a lawyer; I want a lawyer. I

desperately want a lawyer. I'm having difficulties
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because it seems all the - all the senior lawyers I
talk to; everybody is - knows everybody and they
don’t want to break any eggs. And the junior
lawyers, they - they - they say they are too junior
and for those reasons that I read. So - but Your
Honour, there must be someone. There must be
someone and I am working diligently - I really,
really am. It's so unfair and it’s so unfair for
Mr. Silver and Mr. Ranking to claim, and I'm - let
me read this. It's just terribly unfair; it'’'s
unjust. Before I — yes, there’s also — I get
people who have 20 years’ civil experience.

They're very senior and they say, oh, you could go
to jail; you need a criminal lawyer. But I've been
that route as we see. And — I'm sorry, I've lost
my — my train of thought here Your Honour. I
really do need a lawyer. I want a lawyer. It’s -
it is unfair that they have indicated - I've got to
find it; give me a minute here Your Honour please.
It is very opportunistic and a false position taken
by Mr. Silver and Mr. Ranking that I somehow
engineered to be without a lawyer. They wrote -
Mr. Ranking wrote me a letter and said, oh it’s all
your fault; you're responsible for it. It is no
fault of mine. It is unfair and unjust that I am
being penalized for something out of my knowledge
and control. I had - when Mr. Greenspan hired

Mr. Davis to advise Mr. Greenspan, it was a
surprise to me. When he told me he had already
spoken to Milt Davis, this was in late September of
2012, it was a terrible surprise to me. I had

already spent 18 months and 60 some odd thousand
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dollars, borrowed, and then as soon as the - the -
I'1l have to refer to them as “nasty emails”,
started flying between Mr. Greenspan and

Mr. Ranking and Mr. Silver. Mr. Greenspan....

MR. RANKING: Your Honour....

MR BESTS  Mrs Greenspan. ... -

THE COURT: Just a minute Mr. Best.

MR. RANKING: I am not aware of any nasty emails
passing between myself and Mr. Greenspan.

THE COURT: 1I'm not either.

MR. BEST: Well...

THE COURT: But you know...

MR. BEST: ...IL don’t even know 1f I can go there.
THE COURT: ...we're geing to get off on a tangent.
MEL. BrESHE - Bai e~ Slond s s

THE COURT: Just let that go. Just go ahead Mr.
Best.

MR. BEST: In any event, it is unfair and unjust.
Now before Mr. Greenspan, I had another lawyer for
nine months and I paid him money too; he was a
civil lawyer. And at the end, he said, “I think
you need a criminal lawyer.” A second opinion,
Mr. Greenspan, away I went. So Your Honour, I
desperately need a lawyer. My actions to date have
shown that I - I've — I'm desperate to find a
lawyer and I'm working diligently. 1It's Christmas;
it’s Hanukah. I can't even get people to return my
calls so all I'm asking for Your Honour, are two
things really. For today, there’s three - three
big things that concern me. One is I need time to
find my lawyer and I think it's - it's unfair and

unjust under all the circumstances that the cross-
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examination go ahead until I can properly find and
brief a lawyer. And I sent a letter, an email, to
Mr. Ranking and Mr. Silver. I have it here. I
proposed that things be put aside until February
and that the cross—-examinations be put aside.
February - by February, somebody’s got to be my
lawyer; after Christmas and Hanukah. And if that
doesn’t happen, I - I would be asking the court to
appoint me a lawyer or help me find a lawyer.

THE COURT: That’s not the role of the court.

MR. BEST: Well I don’t know that Your Honour. I'm
sorry if I've offended you. I - I don’'t know that.
So I just ask for it to be laid over until February
to let me find a lawyer, post-pone the cross-
examinations. It would do no harm. And - and the
other thing is, I got arrested the other day Your
Honour. I got arrested and the outstanding warrant
is still on CRIC,

THE COURT: Well how did you get - how did you get
arrested?

MR. BEST: I went to the police station to report
as you ordered me sir.

THE COURT: All right, and that’s where they
arrested you?

MR. BEST: And - and I got in there and they said,
“Hey, there’s a warrant outstanding for your
arrest.” And I said, “No, there's - carry a copy
of this.. ..

THE COURT: A copy of the court erder.

MR. BEST: A copy of the court order, right there.
THE COURT: Right.

MR. BEST: And the guy says to me, and rightly so,
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he’s a nice young man; he’s sharp. He says,
“Anybody can do up that on a computer.” And he
says, “I go by what's on this computer.” Now Your
Honour, I don’t know, I mean, you wrote an order to
P e s

THE COURT: Well he....

MR. BEST: ...the arrest warrant out. I - and it
went . ..

THE COURT: Wait a minute.

MR. BEST: ...right to the police. I don’'t know.
THE COURT: Mr. Best, please, you are a retired
police officer...

MR. BEST: Yes sir.

THE COURT: ...or you were a police officer.

MR. BEST: Yes sir.

THE COURT: I don’t know the basis upon which you
left but, and so you're fully aware of what the law
is and as it relates to warrants and you carry a
copy of the order in your pocket. You produced it
to the police officer. He didn’'t detain you in
custody, did he?

ME, BEST: Your Heonour, he did for - 1 had....

THE COURT: Until you produced the order?

MR. BEST: Your Honour, I actually didn’t have the
order with me and I had to have someone — I had to
call someone on the phone and have them come and
bring it to me.

THE COURT: Welil that®s....

MR. BEST: But here's the thing Your Honour, and
even then he wasn’t sure, but here’s the thing Your
Honour, there should be a procedure. There should

be - they obeyed your order to put it on = to put
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the arrest warrant on the system, why won't they
obey your order to - to put it in....

THE COURT: I have made an order, which was at the
request of your then counsel, Mr. Greenspan,
frankly without anyone being present. But - you
produced the transcript of the attendance of

Mr. Greenspan before me, in your materials. It was
on the basis that Mr. Greenspan simply asked that
the execution of the warrant be suspended until
certain dates, to enable you to come back into the
country and to be able then to properly instruct
counsel. That’s what I did. And then there was
asked, there was a request for a further extension
in terms of execution of the warrant. I'm not
setting aside the warrant. The warrant is still in
place. You'’ve been convicted. I think the point
your missing here, if I can just get you focused...
MB. BEST: Yes Your Honour.

THE COURT: ...is that you’ve already been
convicted of contempt. Mr. Greenspan brought an
application to purge the contempt. Now, without
deciding the case, I already gave a date, maybe two
dates, but certainly - I think it's two dates in
the materials, for you to purge your contempt. You
didn’t come and you were — and I made a finding
that you were aware. So notwithstanding all of
that, Mr. Greenspan sought the order. The order he
requested is the order I gave. I'm not doing
anything else with the order.

ME. BEST? Your Honowur, I.. ..

THE COURT: You’re here for a limited purpose and
frankly.. .
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MR. BEST: Your Honour?

THE COURT: ...here to purge the contempt.

MR. BEST: I don’t understand. I apologize, I just
don’t understand. I need a lawyer. I'm just
asking for a fair shot to get a lawyer Your Honour.
THE COURT: When you say you don’t understand....
MR. BEST: This is not my fault.

THE COURT: I just want to make one other comment.
In your own materials, this is your own affidavit
materials filed today, and I'm not going to go
through this, but on the reasons for motion for
contempt, which is filed in the - next to your
materials, you provide I think it’s Exhibit Z, to
your affidavit sworn December 10, 2012. You put in
the reasons, my reasons on the motion for contempt,
and they’re written, and they're detailed. I
detail in that, the difficulties and problems that
were encountered throughout that litigation, in
which you were President of Nelson Barbados,
represented by Mr. McKenzie and the difficulties
and problems we had with UPS post box addresses in
Kingston, in Toronto; the Cloverdale Mall, the
matters of answers to questions that should have
taken place during the course of the litigation
that didn’t happen. And I - then the examination
that came up, all of that is detailed in my
reasons, including the background. And I also, in
one of the reasons, which you also attach, which is
— sorry, it's under the same decision. I refer at
paragraph 30 of that decision to all of the cases
in which you were involved with William McKenzie in

one capacity or another, including third party,
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sometimes as an affiant in affidavits, and I
outline at least seven incidents that were put
before the court of your experience involving
litigation. So you come here Mr. McKenzie -

Mr. Best, and you say, V1 need a lawyer.” Well, I
would like you to have a lawyer. If there's
certain senior lawyers who just do not wish to take
on the case, that you consulted, then that'’s
unfortunate. But nevertheless, the Law Society of
Upper Canada referral has provided you with the
list of names of lawyers. You don’t want a junior
lawyer; that may be unfortunate. But I cannot do
anything more than hear you on the issue but I -
it's your choice as to which lawyer to retain.

It’s not that there’s no lawyer that you can
retain. It’s that you cannot retain the lawyers
you want; that's quite a difference. And might I
say, the application I think by Mr. Greenspan was
in August, to have you come into the country. Even
at that time in the transcript that you’ve
provided, there was a discussion about a hearing
date in October. Now Mr. Greenspan getting off the
record was a new development, no doubt about it.
But on the last occasion, when you're still
represented by Mr. Greenspan, and Mr. Silver was
here representing himself and Mr. Ranking, we began
the process of setting dates and we set the date
for the cross-examination. So I don’t - while I'm
quite — while I hear you about your efforts, I
don’t believe that you cannot retain counsel; you
cannot retain counsel, senior counsel of your

choice. You can retain counsel of- your choice,
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perhaps with less experience. That really is how I
see the issue. Now you tell me what you have to
say on that point.

MR. BEST: Yes Your Honour, let me - give me just a
moment please. One moment Your Honour. I got this
today Your Honour. 1It’s a - just give me a moment.
It's a transcript from my last appearance; I only
got it today.

THE COURT: You got it today? I thought - I've got
it in the affidavit material.

MR. BEST: No sir, this is from November 16™. The
one that is in the affidavit material is from
October 12" Your Honour.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. BEST: If you just give me a moment please.

I'm — what I'm looking for Your Honour, I briefly
read this this morning. There is a statement here
by Your Honour about - once again about me being an
experienced litigant.

THE COURT: Well you may have before - but I've
also answered it....

MR. BEST: But - but it's totally ipcorrect Your
Honour. If you would excuse me for one moment -
because obviously you were under a misinformation
to speak about it.

THE COURT: Well you certainly have a recollection
of it; you put into in your affidavit.

MR. BEST: But I wanted to put the quote in Your
Honour, the exact quote. I wanted to locate it
here Your Honour, because Your Honour has just
brought it up again. But let me read something

else to start and then I'll get back to this one.
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Now Your Honour, I have no idea why you would say
that I am an experienced litigator because....

THE COURT: I already gave you - I gave you — I
directed you to my reasons and I'm...

MR. BEST: I understand Your Honour.

THE COURT: We'’re not arguing the issue - that
issue today.

MR. BEST: I understand but I'm saying that - that
you’ ve been misinformed and I can show you that.

" Let me just read on. First of all, I was a police
officer. I did what police officers normally do;
nothing to do with civil - civil cases. During my
time as police officer, I never appeared in court
except as a witness. I was never a prosecutor or a
Crown Attorney. 1I’ve never received any training
" in conducting civil litigation. In my
recollection, I've read no books about conducting
civil litigation and with the exception of the
Nelson Barbados case, I've never been a plaintiff
- in a civil case in my life, nor has any company
owned by me.

THE COURT: Were you a third party?

MR. BEST: I don’t even know what that means Your
Honour?

25 THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. BEST: 1I've never been trained as, licensed as
or acted as a paralegal or a lawyer. I am
unfamiliar with rules and procedures of court
litigation. To my recollection I have never

30 personally filed any papers in any court about any

civil litigation and neither have I appeared before

a judge to deliver arguments during a civil
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litigation. This is the first time I have ever
stood in a court like this in my life Your Honour.
THE COURT: Well listen, I've read the affidavit
material.

ME.. BEST:S T.oo-.

THE COURT: I think I've heard enough on that. So
what you today, you’ve outlined to me.

MR. BEST: Yes Your Honour.

THE COURT: You wanted the CPIC lifted that they -
the execution of the warrant with CPIC. I've told
you I will not do that. And my reasons are, the
very basis of the application made by Mr. Greenspan
which is in a transcript, which is attached to your
material. And so that warrant remains outstanding
and you’d be wise to carry the court order with you
and I imposed the reporting condition because the
circumstances under which you were brought back had
changed; that is Mr. Greenspan was no longer
representing you and I was very concerned about
having due regard to my two, over two-year
involvement with multiple applications and the
difficulty in locating you, having you contacted,
and your use of UPS addresses. So that’s - I'm not
going to do anything about that. Now, we’re
dealing with - you need time for a lawyer and you
want to put everything off until February. Now in
the hearing, I don’t know Mr. Ranking, whether you
have that transcript of that prior attendance and
I'm not sure what it says. He’s got a copy of the
transcript so it must be available. But....

MR. RANKING: I was told my Mr. Silver’s yesterday
that it should be available for pick up today. I
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was going to pick it up today but I don’t....

THE COURT: Well, I don’t know if I got into this
discussion with counsel but I clearly indicated
that you know, I was available, I would make time
in October for this hearing. 1I’'d hear it in
November. I would hear it in December.

Mr. Greenspan got off the record and now we had a
date fixed; no objection was taken for January 11°%".
MR. RANKING: January 11™ for the cross-
examination...

THE COURT: Right.

MR. RANKING: ...and January 25" for the return of
the application.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. RANKING: And I don’t know about the return
date because I thought he had not fixed that, that
that was left out. But what I said, I believe I
said, I don’'t know, but to counsel is that I will
not be here between somewhere around February 22",
right out to March 25™. I then come back in and I
begin, from March 25" to approximately May 6",
pre-trial motions in a criminal homicide. And that
I'd begin the homicide with a jury May 6%, running
right through to July. And I think that’s where a
lot of this information is probably now being
understood. And then I said, I need to rest a
little this summer and then I've got to get ready
for another homicide which will start in September
and will run through to December. And then I'm
going supernumerary on January 1, 2014. So what
I'm - if T didn’t outline it and maybe Mr. Best has

the transcript, he can tell me. That’s what we
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were working against and hence, I was trying to do
my level best to squeeze everything in and get it
done before I leave towards the end of February.
And my schedule — I have to be the one to hear this
because it’s my finding of contempt. And again, I
just remind Mr. Best, your application brought by
your then counsel, was to purge the contempt. In
other words, change it, alter it, or expunge it, or
none of the above. And that’s - that was what's
before the court. Now, in your warious letters to
the Law Society that you put in, to Law-Pro, which
we might even discuss whether that's appropriate or
not, but everyone of your letters is a lengthy,
lengthy letter where you go into needing lawyers,
on malpractice, and I don’t know if they
specifically refer te Mr. Ranking or Mr. Silver.
But from your affidavit materials, clearly, you
know, you’ve turned your sights on them and I just
want to say to you Mr. Best, that’s not what I'm
dealing with. I'm dealing with contempt, already
found. I've already found you in contempt of the
court and in contempt of court orders and you're
seeking to change that. It's as simple as that.
It's not about malpractice. You want to go into
forensic voice analysis; you're saying that the
somehow the court has been misled by these counsel.
MR. BEST: That’s exactly what I'm saying Your
Honour.

THE COURT: You're entitled to say that but I'm
telling you right now, if you're saying that you're
going prove that the fundamental basis to set aside

was the contempt, was maleficence on the part of
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Mr. Ranking and Mr. Silver, and I'm going to say to
you, go back and read again, my reasons which were
then supported in court and you chose not to attend
court when you had notice of the application. But
I'm saying to you, I'm not expanding this to a
brand new hearing. I'm not re-litigating. You
must understand this Mr. Best; I am not the Court
of Appeal. 1 made — I gave a judgment. I made a
finding. I am not the Court of Appeal. The Court
of Appeal deals with anything that they feel I did
wrong. The Court of Appeal is where you make
applications for new evidence, not me.

MR. BEST: Your Honour, I have no wish to offend
the court. I don’t know what I'm doing here.

THE COURT: You're not offending me. I'm trying
E@Il

MR. BEST: And I'm sorry.

THE COURT: ...get you focused. That’s what I'm
trying to do.

MR. BEST: I didn’t mean to anger you.

THE COURT: I'm not angry at all. I wanted to say
to you, how long did it take you to prepare that
material that you have in front of you right now
that you’ve served or sent to me?

MRS BEST i

THE COURT: Any estimate?

MR. BEST: All weekend, Your Honour.

THE COURT: A weekend?

MR. BEST: All weekend, yes. I guess it all comes
from other things too. But Your Honour, I really
do need more but may I - may I file this?

THE COURT: We’ll come back to that in a moment.
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Let’s deal with the lawyer. So am I correct that -
let’s stop and get the submissions of Mr. Ranking
now on your request to adjourn the cross-

1" and to really adjourn

examination of January 1
any application hearing and you say to put
everything off to February.

MR. BEST: Well....

THE COURT: But I don’t know what you mean by that.
MR. BEST: Your - Your Honour, maybe I can make it
clearer. There’s a January 25™ date to set a
hearing date, which was....

THE COURT: That”s xight.

MR. BEST: That’s right.

MR. RANKING: I've just pulled up the typed
endorsement.

MR. BEST: May I....

MR. RANKING: I wasn’'t here Your Honour, but yes,
what it says in the typed endorsement, “This
application....

MR. BEST: May I — may I finish?

THE COURT: No, no, he’s just trying to help me.
He's right. ..

MR. RANKING: I'm just trying to help you Mr. Best.
THE COURT: ...because - and he’s agreeing with
you.

MR. BEST: I don’'t need any help from someone who —
who lied to me, lied to the court.

THE COURT: Mr. Best, this 'is my court.

MR. BEST: Sorry Your Honour.

THE COURT: You will not speak to Mr. Ranking in
that — in those terms. If you....

MR. BEST: Sorry Your Honour.
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THE, COURT: ITE'sS Not...-

MR. BEST: I just don’t know what to do. I need a
lawyer.

THE COURT: That is not the correct approach.

Mr. Ranking is just trying to get me corrected on
the date of January 25%.

MR. RANKING: Thank you Your Honour. The
cumulative paragraph of your endorsement provides,
“This application will be adjourned to January 25
at 9:30 a.m. PDST, resetting date for hearing.”
THE COURT: That’s the order that's sitting right
ivi front of me:. T got ik; yes.

MR. RANKING: Thank you Your Honour.

THE COURT: All right. Now well Mr. Best, let's
just have you stop there for a moment. I want to
hear from Mr. Ranking about the....

MR. BEST: May I sit down Your Honour?

THE COURT: Yes, about the date - about the
adjournment of the date set for the cross-
examination and the date set to set a date. So
January 11™ and January 25™2

MR. RANKING: Your Honour, I speak on behalf of
myself and behalf of Mr. Silver and we are
instructed to ask this Honourable Court that those
dates be maintained and that no adjournment be
granted. And if I just can take you back to the
history which you reviewed very briefly, this order

was granted on the gth

of August. It was granted
ex-parte when neither PricewaterhouseCoopers nor
Mr. Cox had an opportunity to attend and to make
submissions. The decision may well have been

different had we had the opportunity to have been
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served with the materials and the opportunity to
cross—examine. That didn’'t occur and I simply make
that observation briefly by way of introduction.

As you have pointed out, the motion was then
returnable October the 12™; that date was then
moved to November the 16™ and we are now here at
December the 11™. For those reasons and more
importantly the reasons which you have expressed to
both Mr. Best and I with respect to your
availability, our position is that the cross-

1% and

examination ought to proceed on January the 1
it may need - we may need more than one day Your
Honour. And that we should be returning before
you, or certainly working with Ms. Travis to secure
a date for the application as quickly as possible.
Those are my submissions. Now I should also
perhaps pause to observe, with respect to the
November 17*" issue in your contempt order, the
contempt order was not issued merely by a reason of
a telephone call on November the 17®!. There was
another attendance on November the 25" which

Mr. Best did not attend and there was also, as you
have alluded to this morning, the attendance on
January the 15" before Your Honour when Mr. Best
did not attend either. And I note that many, in my
respectful submission, much of the information in
Mr. Best’s affidavit, I consider to be irrelevant
and I do object te having it filed. I am -
regrettably I had by BlackBerry on. I should tell
the court as an officer, I did not receive any of
the materials yesterday and I'm reading from an

email from Mr. Silver, who indicated that he
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received six faxes, sent last night, the first of
which came at 9:52 p.m. and the last of which came
at 10:29 p.m. In the circumstances Your Honour,
and of course you’ve read the materials, but I
would ask that the materials not be - not be filed.
There is one other issue though.

THE COURT: Just on that, o all right. 8o it's -
he wants - he seeks late filing. So I - what do I
do? I can put it off and say all right, well then
serve - you’ve received it but he cannot file it
before a certain date. I mean, just - do you see
what I'm saying to him about that circular argument
and then you're going to cross—examinations. I
just don’t know — I'm trying to look for how to
better procedurally expedite matters so we get on
with this.

MR. RANKING: Right. As long as it's clear in the
court record, when I received — I didn’t receive
the materials until nine thirty five this morning
and in the circumstances Your Honour, I'm not going
to press the point more than I have. I just wanted
it to be clear and for Mr. Best to extend some
courtesies to counsel, which I haven't seen
extended. If he is going to be acting for himself,
we need advanced notice. And there is the other
obvious issue; if the cross-examination is going to

take place on the 11™

of January, you know, we
would like confirmation that Mr. Best is going to
attend and we would like an order requiring him to

1*" because we’re going to be

attend on January the 1
spending a great deal of time and effort to prepare

for that cross-examination. We don’t want to be in
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position where we are taking our client’s hard
earned money preparing for a cross-—-examination only
to find that Mr. Best did not attend. TI have one
other very brief submission, Your Honour, and it
has to do with what I consider, to be again,
another difficulty for Mr. Best and it is this;
when Your Honour granted the order on January the
15", 2010, that was the contempt order. You
ordered Mr. Best personally to pay costs and you

it will recall the very expensive litigation that this
particular matter entailed. PWC was awarded costs
of $50,632.90. Mr. Silver’s clients were awarded
$13,230. We’ve seen from the material that's been
filed that Mr. Best is able to pay for the very
experienced counsel of Mr. Greenspan and based on
2 Mr. Best'’s submissions today that he in fact
engaged in other counsel. I respectfully request
both on behalf of Mr. Silver’s client and my
client, that a condition of Mr. Best being

- permitted to proceed with this application be that
he pay the costs ordered in paragraph 10 of your
order dated January the 15, 2010. Now I have an
alternative submission with respect to that Your
Honour, and that is this; if Your Honour 1is

25 uncomfortable requiring Mr. Best to make that
payment by reason of the application which is
outstanding. At a minimum, I respectfully request
that all of the costs enumerated in paragraph 10 -
because there are costs for Mr. Roman’s clients and
30 those of Ms. Clark as well. At a minimum, I

request that those costs be paid into court so as

to ensure that at the end of this, there are at

AG 0087 (rev. 07-01)
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least the costs that were awarded by Your Honour
and that our clients will at least recover those
costs, if indeed Mr. Best’s application is not
successful.

THE COURT: Although many, many matters remain
alive in my memory concerning this case, in the
end, counsel came in on behalf of Mr. McKenzie, I
presume it was Law—-Pro. Didn’t Law-Pro pay costs
and why — I've got a confusion in my mind, what
happened on that...

MR. RANKING: Right.

THE COURY: . :.0ecaslon?

MR. RANKING: What happened - yes, Mr. Duarte was
replaced by....

THE, COURT: Mr. Duarte coming off the record, I
remember.

MR. RANKING: He was replaced by Mr. Rolland.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. RANKING: Ian Roland, of Paliare Roland.

THE COURT: Right-

MR. RANKING: There was lengthy discussions Your
Honour, which then resulted in minutes of
settlement...

THE. COURT: Right.

MR. RANKING: ...that were executed on June the 7.
THE COUBRT: Right:

MR. RANKING: And Mr. Silver and I then attended
before you...

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: ...and you’ll recall we wanted to
file these minutes of settlement as a matter of

publiie record. ..
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THE COURT: Right.

MR. RANKING: ...because of litigation that was
taking place in Florida.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. RANKING: And we also filed seven discs so as
to ensure those documents were filed. These
minutes of settlement provide for very extensive
payment to the various parties, including you’ll
recall Mr. Bristow; you"ll recall Ms, Clark, Mr.
Schabas and others. Paragraph three of this, the
long and the short of it, is those cost payments
did not deal with the cost payments I am now
seeking be paid by Mr. Best. Paragraph three
provides, “PWC and the Cox defendants confirm that
payment of the above amount satisfies all claims
for costs in respect of the action against all
respondents listed in paragraph one of the further
further amended Notice of Motion dated April 22"¢,
including of the costs motion, except that PWC and
the Cox defendants do not release Mr. Donald Best
and shall be at liberty to pursue him for the
costs, respectively $50,632.90 and $13,230 and
contempt reflected in the order made by Justice
Shaughnessy dated January 15, 2010, attached as
Schedule B.” And that was the paragraph to which I
just referred you. So your recollection is
absolutely accurate Your Honour. We were paid
costs but the costs that were paid did not satisfy
the cost award that you made on the 15" of January,
2010. Subject to any gquestions Your Honour, those
are my submissions.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Best, do you want to
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respond to that? So in short order, Mr. Ranking is
saying no adjournment of the cross—-examination, he
wants the application date set and he’s also
seeking an order — well I've already ordered the
examination to take place on January T, pursuant
to the order of the 16™ of November, which I’11
sign for you; so that’s taken care of. So I'wve
already directed him to attend, so I don’t think I
have to make a further order.

MR. RANKING: Yes, thank you Your Honour.

THE COURT: And then there's this issue of some 63,
almost 564,000 in costs that relate to the

January 15" order that Mr. Ranking is asking be
paid or alternatively, that you pay the money into
court, pending your application.

MR. BEST: Your Honour?

THE COURT: The hearing of your application. So
this is your oppertunity to reply Lo Lhose. .«

MER. BEST: 1I'm sorry Your Honour, I didn’t realize
that. Your Honour, as to the costs, I need a
lawyer. Mr. Greenspan explained to the court, he
didn’t even know what they were - what it was all
about and I - I can't say that I could do better
than Mr. Greenspan. So I - I can’t say anything
Your Honour; I need a lawyer for that. As to the
cross—-examination, it just seems so unfair Your
Honour. It just seems so unfair. I - this is not
my fault, what has happened and I am trying so hard
to get a lawyer and I need a lawyer and it's a
serious matter. I'm going to jail for three months
and if I don’'t convince the court and argue

properly, I don’t even know where forms are filed.
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It’s just so unfair. They want to rush to justice.
They want to rush to justice to gain an advantage
over me and it's just so unfair Your Honour. This
is not - this is not my intention to - to be
without a lawyer. Everything I've done has - has -
I've tried to do it properly and I've tried to get
a lawyer. I'm trying to get a lawyer. Half the
problem is, we’re at Hanukah and Christmas. People
don’t even return their emails or their faxres or
answer the phones.

THE COURT: Hanukah is eight days and Christmas, we
haven't even got there.

MR. BEST: ‘Well....

THE COURT: 1I’'ve heard you say that again. I'm
working; jurors are hearing a trial for the last
three weeks; they're here. I just....

MR. BEST: Your Honour it just seems....

THE COURT: The difficulty...

MR. BHEST: “SOrEy.

THE COURT: ...you're having is, when I look at the
type of letter that you wrote to the Law Society of
Upper Canada Lawyer Referral Service, and in
particular, I think the Treasurer of the Law
Society I think got it. You then wrote a letter to
him and then you wrote Law-Pro. I mean, those
types - in that letter, which is wvery long, you
don’t - you want a lawyer that specializes in what
you call “malpractice”. So effectively it's saying
"I want to sue” to other lawyers or some other
number of lawyers. It doesn’t say, and frankly I
said this before, in your own material - your own

material properly states that contempt is a quasi-
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criminal proceeding in a civil context. It is not
complicated. It really is not complicated. What
is complicated is all the facts and history that
went on in relation to the Barbados — Nelson
Barbados versus Cox action. But that’s been
decided and I don’t think you’ve got it clearly in
your mind or you - what you — I think you’ve got it
clear in your mind that you're going to bring all
of those issues back because you keep talking about
the very complicated history. You're going to
bring all those issues and re-litigate them. I
think all counsel really had to do - really have to
have to do to understand this entire proceeding,
and it appears to me you have it, is read my
Reasons for Judgment. I make findings of fact on
all, & mpltiplicity of issues. In fact; net all of
the reasons are in here, of the issues I had to
decide, including threats and all of that material.
I gave written reasons on all of it. It wouldn’t
take a lawyer very long to sit down, perhaps in a
few - no more than two to three hours to get a
history, because I think - I spent a lot of time
crafting my Reasons and detailing the history. But
this narrows down to, you’ve been found in
contempt. I gave reasons why I found you in
contempt. I cited the principles of law that I
applied and I imposed a sentence. Your
application, brought by Mr. Greenspan, but it's
your application, is to purge the contempt; to have
that order modified, changed or expunged, or as I
say, none of the above. Depending on - your

application is none of the above, but I may or may
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not grant any of that relief. But that’s what it
ig. That’s what this is apd it's not as
complicated as you would postulate in your - in
your affidavit dated December 10™. So I say to
you, I have been dealing with this matter since
August; it’s now December the 11*".  On November the
16™ we set - we set dates with you know, knowing
full well that Mr. Greenspan was no longer going to
ack Ttor you. We set a date for a cress—
examination. I heard no objection to that date and
now you — you narrate a history that you can't
retain counsel. But read in the context of the
material you file, which I'm going to permit the
filing of the material today and counsel — and
counsel may file responding material 1if they so
wish. But I think that material should be there
for the purposes of any cross-examination that's
going to take place. But = but Mr. Best, 1'm not
going to hear a re-litigation of the Nelson
Barbados versus Cox case. It’s been done; it’s
over. I’'ve made my findings on jurisdiction; it's
finished. If you don’t agree with that decision,
there’s the Court of Appeal. There’s also, if you
don’t agree with any of my decisions, including
contempt, there was always the Court of Appeal.
But Mr. Greenspan thought, perhaps wisely, that he
could come back before me since I'm the judge who
imposed the sentence, and ask that - that it be
modified, varied, or expunged. Now I think that’s
my synthesis of what this is all about. So it’s
not complicated; it’s not about malpractice of

lawyers. If you feel that way, then your right is
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to comwence a separsle action. I cap't tell vou fo
do it; I can't advise you ¥o do ik. T can just
tell you what procedures are available. But I also
am going to tell you what issue I'm going to hear.
And this case has got - has had so many hours
devoted to it. I couldn’t even comprehend how many
hours, days, that I had hearings, issues that
related to cross-—-examinations down in the Barbados
itselt. 2nd I say Lo yon sir, with all dae
respect, I'm going to give you your day in court,
but you're not entitled to an unlimited time in
court and you’ve had time to get counsel and you
still have time to get counsel. It may not be the
counsel precisely of your choosing. It may not be
the malpractice counsel that you refer to in your
material but you - you have time to retain counsel,
to instruct counsel, and I've told you what the
narrow issue is.

MR. BEST: May I speak Your Honour?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. BEST: ¥Your Honour, I don’t — I don’t
understand a lot of what you said.

THE COURT: What don’t you understand?

MR. BEST: And.. .-

THE COURT: I’'d be happy to explain it.

MR. BEST: Well - about why, I'm not even sure I
can repeat what you said Your Honour. I'm just....
THE COURT: Tell me what you don’t understand.

I’11l be happy to explain it.

MR. BEST: I dont — I don®™t understand — I don’t
understand all your legal explanations, I really

don"t Your Henour. I1I'm not just....
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THE COURT: What legal explanations?

MR. BEST: But - but I accept that you’ve said it;
I hear you Your Honour. I just — I know I need a
lawyer and I'm trying my best to get one. This
issue of malpractice, once again I’'d like to say
Your Honour, I only, after talking with the person
on the help line at the Law Society, I explained
that I couldn’t get lawyers that wanted to do this.
They didn’t want to touch it. She said, well maybe
a malpractice lawyer and I says, okay, give me the
list. It wasn’t that I'm setting out to look for
one.

THE COURT: Well go...

MR. BEST: It's just that’s what they suggested.
THE COURT: ...back and get another list of counsel
who are willing to take on matters. The list is
long and you know, I don’t have to give you advice.
You know already and have found a way to get
counsel.

MR. BEST: I'm doing my best Your Honour, I really
am working diligently on it; I am. I spend hours
every day on it and I apologize.

THE COURT: No.

MR. BEST: T did not put myself in this position.
It was not my idea to be standing here without a
lawyer.

THE COURT: Do you understand though...

MR BEST:  But. ..

THE COUBT: ...that if you den't gualify for Legal
Rid. ..

MR, BEST: ...what I = I'm in your hands Your
Honour.
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THE COURT: ...and I'm assuming you don’t. And if
you can't get a lawyer, that doesn’t mean the
proceedings are stopped. The issue really is, have
you had adequate time? And you’ve certainly known
since I would say, at least early November, that
Mr. Greenspan wasn’t going to continue to act and
then the application was brought to the court. So
you’ve had a month and a half. How you define what
lawyer or what lawyer is acceptable to you, that'’s
entirely sir within your own discretion. But
having said that, the matter has to proceed; it is
your application. It's not like you're responding
to an application; ili's your application. You've
asked the court for relief and it was brought back
in August. And you’ve had lawyers working on it
for months, according to your affidavit material.
And so, all the work that’s been done by

Mr. Greenspan and worked up and material filed with
the: eanrt, thaths alreddystakon pldecezs TLHs @moE —
it's not that anyone has done anything to you, that
anyone’s brought an application as against you to
respond, this is your application. So in the
circumstances, I think I've heard all I can now and
I'm going to make some orders here. Do you have
the record? 1Is there anything else you want to say
Mr. Best?

MR. BESE: I'm in Your Honotir’s hatnds =sir. I =
Your Honour, I just think it's so unfair after all
this way that I should be without a lawyer at the
last minute. It's not my fault and to have to go
through cross-examination without a lawyer, I don’t

think it's fair. I don’t Ehank it's just. But I =
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and Mr. Silver and Mr. Ranking want to just like,
express train. But I'm in Your Honour’s hands. I
can't do anything. I just have to rely on Your
Honour, so thank you Your Honour. Oh one thing
Your Honour, I heard you — I think I understood;
I'm not sure. I think I understood and I'm not
sure if by faxing it to the court and you reading
i, that is Eiling it. You don®t have a copy of
the CD here and this is a bound copy, an original
sir. I don’t know what I should do with it.

THE COURT: I'm going to deal with that.

MR. BESTE: 1I'm serey sir?

THE COURT: 1I'm going to deal with it. Just give
me a second, I'm writing....

MR. BEST: Thank you Your Honour.

THE COURT: Are you working — are you presently
employed Mr. Best?

MR. BEST: 1 would refer to myself as semi-retired
Your Honour.

THE COURT: What does that mean?

MR. BEST: I — I am looking for something now that
I am back here. I don’t know - I don’t know what
that will be. This looking for a lawyer in the
case seems to take up all of my time.

THE COURT: What’s your circumstances though? What
income do you receive? Do you have a pension?

MR. BEST: I'm not sure what you mean sir.

THE COURT: I'm trying to deal with costs and so
one of the issues 1I've got to consider about costs
is your - your financial — your present financial
circumstances. Are you married?

MR. BEST: Do you mean my income tax — my income?
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THE COURT: Yes.

MR. BEST: I'm almost ashamed to say what my income
has been for the last three years Your Honour.

THE COURT: Well don’t be ashamed; just tell me.
Do you have a pension?

MR. BEST: I think it - well the first wife took
that Your Honour.

THE COURT: I mean, are you married now?

MR. BEST: Your Honour, I'm very hesitant to - to
say anything about...

THE COURT: Your finances?

MR. BEST: ...members of my family. As far as my
finances go Your Honour, I'm trying to remember
what my income declared on tax last year was. But
it was something in the neighborhood of 12 or
$13,000.

THE COURT: That’s net, after expenses?

MR. BEST: It'8:s.»

THE COURT: Do you do investigative work? Do - do
you run a company? That's what I'm trying to find
out.

MR. BEST: All right. Your Honour, I'm unemployed.
I don't - I have this company. I have people who
have been helping me out. And....

THE COURT: Are you married? Are you living with
somebody? Do you have a common-law partner?

MR. BEST: Your Honour, I - because of my desire to
protect my family members, I would need legal
counsel. I just - I mean, Your Honour, we’re
getting into safety issues now and....

THE COURT: I'm trying to deal with financial

issues.
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MR. BEST: Well Your Honour....

THE COURT: You're not answering my question.

MR. BEST: I — I — I don”"t understand.

THE COURT: You're — well let me just....

MR. BEST: If I could only have a lawyer - my - my
lawyer would be able to tell you.

THE COURT: Oh this is pretty simple.

MR. BEST: Your Honour, this is so unfair.

THE COURT: Mr. - can I just speak for a minute
please?

MR. BEST: Yes Your Honour.

THE COURT: Mr. Ranking has asked that you pay the
costs that total, by my math, $63,862.96, or
alternatively, that that sum of money be paid into
court as a condition for you proceeding with this
application to purge your contempt. Paying it into
court means that the money is held there, then the
hearing takes place, and then as a result of the
hearing, either the money is paid back to you or
the money is released. So that’s what I'm trying
to deal with; it's very simple.

MR. BEST: I don’t have that kind of money Your
Honour.

THE COURT: Well you haven't told me what kind of
money you’ve got. Like, are you renting the house?
You didn’t tell me — I'm not asking for the name of
a person that you're living with. I'm asking; do
you have commitments? Do you have children? Do
you have a mortgage? Do you have rent? Do you
income from a common-law spouse that meets some of
your expenses? I mean, that's what I'm trying to

get at, but if you don’t want to give me any of
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that, then just say so.

MR. BEST: I - Your Honour, I don’t really
understand. Mr. Greenspan was asked to speak to
the costs. He didn’t - he didn’t have enough
knowledge to speak about costs; I don’t think I do
either Your Honour. I just....

THE COURT: You don’t have to speak to costs.

MR. BEST: I just need a few more weeks, to get
over Christmas, so I can get a lawyer Your Honour,
please. That’s all I'm asking for, just a fair
shot to get a lawyer. 1I've been trying. It’s -
it’s always go fast, go fast, go fast when I'm
standing here with my lawyer. It’s what he wants.
There’s - it would do no harm to just wait until I
got a lawyer. Thank you Your Honour. I don’t mean
to offend.

MR. RANKING: Your Honour, can I make one
submission...

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: ...on that point?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: And you may recall that there’s a
Mr. Peter Allard, that was funding the litigation?
THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: And I simply bring that to the
court’s attention as well. I have no idea or
knowledge of what his involvement is, if any, with
regards to Mr. Best and this application. I just
don’t know but I did want to bring that back to the
court’s attention.

THE COURT: Well I certainly recall Mr. Allard’s

involvement but if - Mr. Best doesn’t want to tell
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me anything, so.

MR. BEST: Sorry Your Honour, may I get something
out of my brief case, for just one moment?

THE COURT: 1I've made the following endorsement.
We will get you a photocopy. I hope - I am reading
it slowly so that my hand-writing can interpreted.
“1l. Mr. Greenspan is now removed as counsel of
record for Mr. Best. However, as agreed by Mr.
Greenspan, he will hold Mr. Best’s passport until
Mr. Best retains new counsel.

2. Mr. Best has now filed a Notice of Intention to
Act in Person.

3. I am granting leave to Mr. Best to late file
his affidavit and CD, sworn December 10, 2012. If
so advised, the respondents may file responding
material within 20 days.

4. I have already by order dated November 16,
2012, directed cross—-examination of Mr. Best to
take place on January 11, 2013. Based on the
affidavit of Mr. Best and the various letters
attached to this affidavit, he has been in contact
with the Law Society of Upper Canada Lawyer
Referral Service. His difficulty in retaining a
lawyer appears to relate to the degree of
experience of the lawyer that he wants to retain as
well as the requirement that the lawyer be
experienced in “malpractice”. I am not satisfied
that Mr. Best cannot retain a lawyer as he
suggests. The application brought is to purge my
contempt finding and set aside the order. This is
not a complicated issue. As I explained to

Mr. Best, this application is not a re-litigation
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of the Nelson Barbados versus Cox proceeding.
Therefore the cross-examination of Mr. Best shall
proceed on January 11, 2013, regardless of whether
he retains counsel.

5. Mr. Ranking seeks an order that Mr. Best pay
the costs ordered January 15, 2010, by me or
alternatively that the total amount of the costs,
$63,862.96, be paid into court as a condition of
the application proceeding. I believe Mr. Silver
made the same request at a prior attendance. Mr.
Best will not provide any information concerning
his present financial circumstances. I am not
prepared today to deal with the outstanding cost
award. Counsel however, may renew the application
after the cross-examination takes place. All of
the terms of my order of November 16, 2012
continue. Cost of today are reserved by me to the
date of disposition of this application.”

MR. RANKING: Your Honour, may I just make - T
think you referred to your earlier order as
November 12*™. It was November the 16™".

THE COURT: Did I?

MR. RANKING: That was towards the very end of your
endorsement.

THE COURT: Oh it’s November 12, right.

MR. RANKING: No, it’s November 16™. 1It’s your
earlier order.

THE COURT: The first part was right.

MR. RANKING: It was November — when you indicated
that your earlier order...

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: ...would continue.
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THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: I believe you intended to refer to
your November 16 order?

THE COURT: Yes. Did I say otherwise? Y“All of the
terms of my order of November 16, 2012 continue.”
MR. RANKING: I apologize. I thought you said
November 12",

THE COURT: No, I probably read it wrong.

MR. RANKING: And one other point Your Honour.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RANKING: Just with respect to the late filing
of the materials, the cross-examination may go
longer than one day. Could you just indicate -
because I think that the earlier - that paragraph
seven indicates that - that the cross is set for
January 11™ and....

THE COURT: Regardless of whether he retains
counsel. In light of the further material....

MR. RANKING: Just to the extent we need to go
longer than the one day Your Honour.

THE COURT: All right. I’ve added, “In light of
the further material filed by Mr. Best, the cross-
examination may extend beyond January 11, 2013.”
MR. RANKING: Thank you Your Honour.

COURTROOM REGISTRAR: Mr. Ranking just handed that
to me Your Honour.

THE COURT: I’ve signed - here’s the order, I
think. So it’s signed.

MR. RANKING: Great.

THE COURT: This one is signed.

COURTROOM REGISTRAR: Yes, Your Honour.

THE COURT: And I guess Madam Registrar, these are



10

15

20

25

30

AG 0087 (rev. 07-01)

47 .
Submissions

filed materials, so I assume this is really my
copy.

COURTROOM REGISTRAR: Really it is Your Honour. He
has that there to be filed.

THE COURT: All right. Do you want to file that
now then?

MR. BEST: Yes Your Honour, thank you very much.
THE COURT: Give it to the Registrar. I think what
I"1l do then, is use this as my copy.

COURTROOM REGISTRAR: Right.

THE COURT: The one that was sent upstairs by fax.
MR. BEST: I have a spare one for you Your Honour.
THE COURT: All right.

MR. BEST: And another disc. Just give me one
moment .

THE COURT: So that’s page one here Madam
Registrar, page two here, page three here. Okay,
if I recall correctly, this is a Barrie action.
COURTROOM REGISTRAR: It is Your Honour.

THE COURT: Right. 1I’'1l1l give you that back.
COURTROOM REGISTRAR: I’11 put all of this in your
box.

THE COURT: Yes, if you don’t mind; this as well.
COURTROOM REGISTRAR: Yes, Your Honour.

THE COURT: Thank you. Maybe if it’s all right
with Mr. Ranking, I will just stick this in here so
I recall what was going on. All right? This is
going to be - I'm just going to keep a copy of that
November 16" order in my bench book.

MR. RANKING: That’s totally fine, of course.

THE COURT: Thank you. See you in the morning.

MR. BEST: Sorry Your Honour, do I get a copy of
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whatever you wrote?
THE COURT: Yes, you are going to get a photocopy.
Just stay here; Mr. Mills will take - or the
Registrar will take care cof you with my hand-
written endorsement.
MR. BEST: Thank you very much Your Honour.
MR. RANKING: Thank you Your Honour.
X x k Kk Kk K* * K« K* K
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